
 
 

Board of Trustees  
Meeting of Wednesday, September 16, 2015 

12:15 P.M.  
San Diego Law Library 

1105 Front St., San Diego, CA  92101 
 

AGENDA  
 

**Items with asterisks will be discussion items only** 
At the beginning of the meeting, the presiding officer will ask if Board members or members of the public wish to pull other items for discussion.  Items not pulled for 

discussion are passed in a consent resolution at the beginning of the meeting.  Persons wishing to make public comment at the meeting are requested to make arrangements with 
the Administrative Office prior to the meeting.  Persons desiring to comment on an agenda item will speak when that item comes up for discussion.  An individual desiring to bring 
another matter to the Board's attention should be prepared to speak at the beginning of the meeting.  Members of the public should limit remarks to five minutes.  Materials for 
each agenda item, except closed session items, are available for public inspection from the San Diego Law Library Administrative Office, 1150 Front Street, San Diego, CA 92101-
3904, and (619) 531-4449. 
 

1) Call to Order 
2) * Opportunity for General Public Comment 
3)  Minutes 

a. Previous Meeting of August 19, 2015. 
 

4) Financial Report 
a. Finance Report 

5) Annual Report 
a. Approval of 2014-2015 Annual Report 

 
6) Bylaws Revision 
7) Other Reports 

a. Foundation Liaison Report (Judge Gill, Low) 
b. Legislative Committee (Judge Kelety) 
c. Membership Program Committee 

8) Branch Update 
a. Expanding our reach in EC & SB 

 
9) Secretary’s Report 

a. Law Library press & praise 
b. Outreach activities 
c. Facilities maintenance reports 
d. Patron compliments/ complaints 
e. Incident reports 
f. Monthly Activity Report 

10) Other Business 

11) Adjournment 



San Diego County Public Law Library 
Board of Trustees 

San Diego Law Library 
1105 Front Street, San Diego, CA 92101 

September 16, 2015 
12:15 p.m. 

Agenda Summary and Action Requested 
 

NO. ITEM SUMMARY RECOMMEND 

1. Call to Order  Action. 

2*. Opportunity for General 
Public Comment  N/A 

3. Minutes of Previous Meetings A. Approval of Minutes of August 19, 2015 Action. 

4. Financial Report A. Financial Report Information. 

5. Annual Report A. Approval of 2014-2015 Annual Report Action. 

6. Bylaws Revision A. Bylaws Revisions Information. 

7. Other Reports 

A.  Foundation Liaison Report (Judge Gill, Low) Information. 

B. Legislative Committee Information. 

C. Membership Program Committee Information. 

8. Branch Update A. Expanding our Reach in EC and SB Information 

9.  Secretary’s Report 
A. Law Library press & praise Information. 

B. Outreach activities Information. 

  C. Facilities maintenance reports Information. 

  D. Patron compliments/ complaints Information. 

  E. Incident reports Information. 

  F. Monthly Activity Report Information. 

10. Other Business A.  Any new business not an Agenda Item. Information. 

11. Adjournment  Action. 

 



 
Item 3: Minutes 

 
a. Previous Meeting of August 19, 2015 

  



Law Library Board of Trustees 
Minutes of the Meeting 

August 19, 2015 
 

 

 
August 19, 2015 San Diego Law Library Board of Trustees Page 1 of 4 

The Law Library Board of Trustees held a regular meeting, pursuant to notice thereof, on  
August 19, 2015 at the San Diego Law Library, located at 1105 Front St., San Diego, CA 
92101. 
 
Present: The following Board members were present: Honorable Julia Craig Kelety, 
President; Jeffrey D. Cawdrey, Esq., Treasurer; Honorable Yvonne E. Campos; Mara Elliott; 
Honorable David M. Gill; and Nathan Low, Esq. 
 
Absent: Honorable David Berry, Vice President; Lorena Slomanson, Esq., Assistant 
Secretary; and Honorable Joseph Brannigan. 
 
Also Present: John W. Adkins, Director of Libraries and Secretary to the Board; Marcia 
O’Hara, Assistant Director of Finance & Personnel; and Cyndi Quisenberry, Administrative 
Support Officer. 
 
Guests:  

 
 
1) Call to Order  

Judge Julia Kelety, Board President, convened the meeting at 12:23 pm. 
 

2) * Opportunity for General Public Comment 
a. No Public Comments 

 
3) Minutes 

a. Previous Meeting of July 29, 2015 

MOTION (1): Judge Kelety called for a motion to approve the minutes of July 29, 2015.  
Judge Gill moved to approve the minutes; Judge Campos seconded the motion, Mr. 
Cawdrey abstained, and the minutes passed by acclamation. 

*Make correction to July 29, 2015 minutes - Mara Elliott – Note arrived at 12:45. 

 
4) Financial Report (O’Hara) 

a. Financial Reporting 
• Ms. O’Hara reported on June 2015 financials. 
• We are 5.2% lower for filing fees than last year, but the expected lower fees were 

budgeted. 
• We have a $10,000 credit from our library insurance. This is noted under library 

insurance. This is due to the insurance company’s past billing for insurance on a 
temporary building we have not used for years. 

• Overall income was $50,000 less than budgeted. 
 

5) Approval of Health Plan 



Law Library Board of Trustees 
Minutes of the Meeting 

August 19, 2015 
 

 

 
August 19, 2015 San Diego Law Library Board of Trustees Page 2 of 4 

a. The question was posed why we stay with CalPers? 
• Better benefits. 
• There have been cases where employers have been sued when switching from 

Calpers due to the change in retiree benefits. 
• More plan options. 

b. We recommend a standard plan using the average cost of the Health Plans offered. 
c. Mr. Cawdrey asked about the average formula and if this was a good method. The 

staff are pretty equally distributed across plans offered. 
d. Ms. Elliott asked about the extra amount allotted to the family plan. Mr. Adkins 

answered that none of the staff has presented this to be an issue. 
e. The price has gone up significantly this year.  
 

MOTION (2): Judge Kelety called for a motion to approve the recommended Library 
Contribution to 2016 Staff Health Care Plans.  Judge Gill moved to approve the Library 
Contribution to 2016 Staff Health Care Plans; Judge Campos seconded the motion, and 
the Library Contribution to 2016 Staff Health Care Plans using the average cost 
methodology was approved unanimously. 

 
6) Director’s Compensation 

a. Judge Kelety is happy to report that the committee met, and has come up with an 
amount. 

b. Found that giving bonuses to the director is not legal. Bonuses are dependent on 
past work. We cannot compensate backwards. Looked at other options. Much better 
shape giving compensation for future work. 

c. The ad hoc Director’s Compensation committee decided on a temporary salary 
adjustment for the director beginning September 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016. 

d. Judge Campos votes to go for the upper range of salary rates, as the loss of the 
director would be detrimental to the state of the Law Library. 

 
MOTION (3): Judge Kelety called for a motion to approve the Director’s  salary 
adjustment increase of $1500 per month for ten (10) months beginning September 1, 
2015 and ending June 30, 2016. The salary adjustment terminates at the end of this 
period, and will not continue, subject to a new motion by the board.  
 
Judge Campos made a friendly amendment to the motion that the compensation 
amount be $2,000 per month, Judge Gill seconded the amendment.  
 
Mr. Cawdrey made a friendly amendment to increase the monthly amount to $2,500, 
Judge Gill seconds.  
 
The motion carries unanimously with the friendly amendment at $2,500 per month 
salary adjustment for 10 months. 



Law Library Board of Trustees 
Minutes of the Meeting 

August 19, 2015 
 

 

 
August 19, 2015 San Diego Law Library Board of Trustees Page 3 of 4 

 
7) Other Reports 

a. Foundation Liaison Report  (Judge Gill; Nathan Low) 
• The foundation did not meet. 
• Mr. Adkins reported that the Foundation website is launching soon with Witkin 

tickets available. 
• Witkin Award Honorees 

o Excellence in the Adjudication of the Law: Honorable Joel M. Pressman 
o Excellence in the Practice of Law: Judy Clarke, Esq. 
o Excellence in Legal Education: Prof. William Slomanson 
o Excellence in Civic Leadership and Philanthropy: Amy J. Fitzpatrick, Esq. 
 

b. Legislative Committee Report 
• Mr. Adkins reported that SB711 (An act to amend Section 6360 of the Business 

and Professions Code, and to add Section 19307 to the Education Code, relating 
to law libraries) is on consent for appropriations for August 20, 2015. 

• The bill has been sent to appropriations due to addition of the amendment of 
including County Law Libraries as public libraries.  

c. Ad Hoc Membership Committee 
• A binder with the history of the membership program has been created and will 

be given to Ms. Elliott and Ms. Slomanson for review.  
• Currently, the only benefit members receive is borrowing books.  
• SB711 would allow us to make money with the program. 
• Judge Kelety asked how Mr. Cawdrey ‘s firm handles MCLEs. Mr. Cawdrey said 

that his firm offers one MCLE a month. This is relevant as a potential 
membership perk.  

• Recent contract with LexVid will open other options for member benefits. 
• The committee will meet later and share ideas and plans for the future. 

 
8) Secretary’s Report 

a) Law Library press & praise 
o The Law Library is being honored with a SDVLP award. This is for the family law 

clinic held at the SDLL each week. 
o Article by Judge Nakamura: Budget Woes fixed with a ‘3 Percent Solution’ 
o Daily Journal article on the fate of the San Mateo County Law Library 

b) Outreach activities 
o  2 Lectures, 1 Tour, and 16 Legal Clinics. 

c) Facilities Maintenance Reports 
o 7 Facilities Maintenance Reports 

d) Patron compliments/ complaints 



Law Library Board of Trustees 
Minutes of the Meeting 

August 19, 2015 
 

 

 
August 19, 2015 San Diego Law Library Board of Trustees Page 4 of 4 

o 8 Patron Compliments/Complaints 

o Proposing that there is a space limited to members for research. 
o Is there really a sea of homeless?  
o Great letter from Carmen Matthews. 

e) Incident reports 
o 4 Incident Reports 

o Quite serious incident report. The police department came to the SDLL and 
gave training on dealing with these kinds of situations.  
 

f) Monthly Activity Report 
 

9) Other Business 
a. Mr. Adkins reported on the state of the East County branch. We are already at the 

end of our part-time staff budget. We do not have the staff available to keep the 
branch open. Suggest suspending operations at the East County branch until a 
solution can be decided on. We have scheduled a meeting with the East County 
public library, and they are excited to partner. Maintaining this branch with a staff 
member would cost $20,000 from the reserves. 
• Mr. Adkins will have a report at the next meeting on the partnership with the 

public library.  
 

b. Ms. Elliott and Mr. Adkins are revising current San Diego Law Library bylaws. 
• Proposed a standing review period of every three years. 

 
10) Adjournment 

• The meeting adjourned at 1:20 pm. 



 
Item 4:  

Financial Report 
  



 
June 2015 

Revised 
  



San Diego County Public Law Library
Balance Sheet   Revised

As of June 2015 As of 

June 2015 Low Cash

ASSETS 2,498,380             

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

0001 · Cash and investments

0010 · County Treasury 2,445,162.09

0020 · Petty Cash 225.00

0041 · Payroll Checking 50,434.20

0042 · Credit Card Checking Account 31,511.36

0050Wells Fargo Checking Account

0060 · Citibank Operating Account 2,899.26

0090 · County Held Construction Funds 35,575.74

Total 0001 · Cash and investments 2,565,807.65

Total Checking/Savings 2,565,807.65

Accounts Receivable

0110 · Accounts Receivable 453,693.84

Total Accounts Receivable 453,693.84

Other Current Assets

0070 · Due from LLJF 0.00

0160 · Deposit with others - long term 0.00

0420 · Prepaid Expenses 21,954.13

1500 · Over/under -7.38

Total Other Current Assets 21,946.75

Other Assets

Board Designated Facilities Improvement Fund 700,000.00

Due to  Facilities Improvement Fund -341,249.00

Amount reimbursed to Facilities Improv Fund -358,751.00

Total Other Assets 0.00

0200 · Renovation Work in Progress 78,510.77

0300 · Equipment

0340 · Equipment 406,900.67

0350 · Improvements 4,791,348.00

0360 · Furniture 336,908.07

0370 · IT Equipment 380,318.61

-1,773,836.00

Fixed Assets

0399 · Accumulated Depreciation



       Total Fixed Assets 4,220,150.12

34,594.59

TOTAL ASSETS 7,296,192.95

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

0511 · Accounts Payable 0.00

Total Accounts Payable 0.00

Credit Cards

0513 · Credit Card Debt

0513-GC - BoA - Gina Catalano 0.00

0513-JA · Citibank MC - J. Adkins 0.00

0513-SS  American Express- S Schweter 0.00

Total 0513 · Credit Card Debt 0.00

Other Current Liabilities

0515 · Deposits on Account

0517 · Security Deposits 116,391.00

0523 · Extended Services Deposits 8,153.12

Total 0515 · Deposits on Account 124,544.12

0519 · Sales Tax Payable 19.26

0520 · Accrued Payroll 177,356.74

0525 · Payroll Liabilities 64.30

0530 · Accrued Expenses 3,386.72

0535 · Accrued Liabilities - CalPERS 51,781.00

0540 · Capital Lease Payable 16,181.00

0640 · Deferred Grant Income 0.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 373,333.14

Total Current Liabilities 373,333.14

Long Term Liabilities

0650 · AOC Advance 223,022.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 223,022.00

Total Liabilities 596,355.14

Equity

0700 · Fund Balance

0740 · Fund Balance Available 5,376,771.50

Other Assets

0155 · Prepaid Subscriptions



Total 0700 · Fund Balance 5,376,771.50

3000 Opening Bal Equity 115,441.77

3900 · Retained Earnings 1,380,304.84

Net Income -172,680.30

Total Equity 6,699,837.81

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 7,296,192.95



San Diego County Public Law Library REVISED
Profit and Loss
Jun-15 After Auditor AJE Approved Projection

Actual Budget of Actual
Income: July 14-June 15 FY 2015 FY 2015
Income from Outside Sources:

9821 Filing Fees:  Superior Court 2,631,919              2,700,000         2,631,919       
9950 Membership Fees 63,130                    55,000              63,130            
9190 Interest 9,460                      5,000                9,460              
9979 Donations 977                         1,000                977                  
9990 Grants 13,192                    15,000              13,192            
9970 Sponsorship Income 7,500                      5,000                7,500              

Restricted Hervey Technology Grant -                     -                  
            Sub-Total Outside Sources: 2,726,178              2,781,000         2,726,178       
Income from Library Sources:

9181 Fines 8,084                      9,000                8,084              
9730 Extended Services 814                         200                    814                  
9967 Copier Income 26,381                    35,000              26,381            
9994 Class fees 6,664                      10,000              6,664              
9996 Miscellaneous - Taxable 5,108                      5,000                5,108              
9995                          Nontaxable 2,213                      2,000                2,213              

            Sub-Total Library Sources: 49,264                    61,200              49,264            
                               TOTAL INCOME: 2,775,442              2,842,200         2,775,442       
EXPENDITURES:
Personnel:

1101 Regular Employees 1,187,936              1,200,000         1,187,936       
1102 Part-time Employees 38,825                    25,000              38,825            
1160 PERS Employer Contributions 143,017                 120,000            143,017          
1165 Employer's FICA Expense 18,769                    55,000              18,769            

Library Contributions - Health Benefits 
1170-AC             Active employees 126,953                 130,000            126,953          
1170-RT             Retirees 119,377                 140,000            119,377          



1170-LI LTD/Life/Dental 8,058                      12,500              8,058              
1175 Workers' Compensation 9,679                      20,500              9,679              
1185 Unemployment Expense (384)                        20,000              (384)                

             Sub-Total Personnel: 1,652,230              1,723,000         1,652,230       
Materials:

2215 Electronic Resources 205,056                 186,000            205,056          
2326 Microforms 2,420                      1,200                2,420              
2328 Compact Discs 7,347                      6,000                7,347              
2345 Books - New 827                         500                    827                  
2346 Special Funds 1,449                      -                     1,449              
2347 Books - Disposable 280,424                 350,000            280,424          
2348 Books - Continuations 119,088                 110,000            119,088          
3470 CA Use/Sales Tax 1,027                      3,000                1,027              

              Sub-Total Materials: 617,638                 656,700            617,638          
Operations:

2244 Library Insurance 24,578                    45,000              24,578            
2300 Memberships 2,895                      5,000                2,895              
2302 Copier/Print solution 39,823                    49,000              39,823            

Miscellaneous:
2304-CC    Credit Card Acct. Charges 5,330                      6,000                5,330              
2304-RE    Recruiting 289                         1,000                289                  
2304-MC    Misc 3,321                      4,000                3,321              

Staff Appreciation 4,998                      5,000                4,998              
2305 Catalog Data Searches/Supplies 5,005                      6,000                5,005              
2306 Postage 2,013                      4,000                2,013              
2307 Printing/Copying 119                         1,000                119                  
2308 Binding 346                         1,000                346                  
2309 Collection Supplies (incl. tattle tape) 3,173                      4,000                3,173              
2311 IT Supplies/Repairs 8,698                      9,500                8,698              
2312 Office Supplies 5,904                      8,000                5,904              
2315 Professional & Special Services:

2315-AU      Audit 9,000                      9,000                9,000              
2315-LE      Legal -                          5,000                -                  



2315-PA      Payroll 2,932                      5,000                2,932              
2315-SE      Security 54,689                    65,000              54,689            
2315-LL      Loose-leaf filing 10,755                    10,000              10,755            
2315-OT Professional Services-Other (245)                        (245)                
2315-PV Preservation 500                    -                  
2315-WE Website -                          -                     -                  

2359 Employee Auto/Bus Passes/Parking 13,380                    21,000              13,380            
2365 Professional Memberships 1,936                      4,000                1,936              
2362 Conferences/Seminars 16,553                    14,600              16,553            
2370 Public Relations 8,118                      7,500                8,118              
2390 IT:
2391 Computer Software -                          1,500                -                  
2392 IT Outsourcing 10,555                    60,000              10,555            
2393 IT Maintenance 38,443                    40,400              38,443            
2394 T-1/Internet 41,077                    42,000              41,077            

Hervey Technology Expense (see note) -                  
2453 Facilities 1,932                      1,000                1,932              
4501 Equipment:

4501-IT      IT Equipment 16,181                    26,200              16,181            
Hervey Technology Equipment -                     -                  

4501-OF     Office -                          1,000                -                  
4501-OT     Other -                          -                     -                  
5000 Depreciation 0
Reimbursement to reserves for purchase of Furniture & Technology 0 -                  

            Sub-Total Operations: 331,798                 462,200            331,798          
                      TOTAL EXPENDITURES: 2,601,666 2,841,900 2,601,666
                     OPERATING BALANCE: 173,776 300 173,776



FILING FEES PAYMENT RECORDS - 2014/2015
 12 Month Completed

AOC AOC
Last year MONTH This Year

$245,166 JULY $254,898
 

$247,196 AUGUST $225,364

$229,054 SEPTEMBER $216,443

$257,964 OCTOBER $238,708

$205,320 NOVEMBER $178,204

$229,347 DECEMBER $214,553

$217,989 JANUARY $200,164

$215,419 FEBRUARY $187,935

$233,982 MARCH $241,728

$248,595 APRIL $236,148

$221,380 MAY $217,076

$225,703 JUNE $220,698

$2,777,115 TOTAL $2,631,919  
 

$231,426 Monthly Avg $219,327  
 

Filing Fees are 5.2% lower than last fiscal year
Monthly Average History:
14 $231,426 Projection:
13 $253,315 Current Year: Budget Actual YTD Difference % of budget YTD
12 $275,394
11 $321,023
10 $331,851 July 225,000 $254,898 29,898 113.29% 254,898 Actual
09 $348,740 Aug. 225,000 $225,364 364 100.16% 225,364 Actual
08 $321,354 Sept. 225,000 $216,443 (8,557) 96.20% 216,443 Actual
07 $287,630 Oct. 225,000 $238,708 13,708 106.09% 238,708 Actual
06 $267,751 Nov. 225,000 $178,204 (46,796) 79.20% 178,204 Actual
05 $236,929 Dec. 225,000 $214,553 (10,447) 95.36% 214,553 Actual
04 $223,022 Jan. 225,000 $200,164 (24,836) 88.96% 200,164 Actual
03 $226,902 Feb. 225,000 $187,935 (37,065) 83.53% 187,935 Actual
02 $216,397 Mar. 225,000 $241,728 16,728 107.43% 241,728 Actual
01 $197,101 Apr. 225,000 $236,148 11,148 104.95% 236,148 Actual
00 $202,556 May 225,000 $217,076 (7,924) 96.48% 217,076 Actual
99 $188,610 June 225,000 $220,698 (4,302) 98.09% 220,698 Actual
97 $171,946
96 $162,831
95 $160,868 $2,700,000 $2,631,919 (68,081) $2,631,919
94 $168,862
93 $172,373
92 $189,757



 
July 2015 

  



San Diego County Public Law Library
Balance Sheet   
As of July 2015 As of 

July 2015 Low Cash

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

0001 · Cash and investments

0010 · County Treasury 2,402,550.74

0020 · Petty Cash 225.00

0041 · Payroll Checking 50,246.68

0042 · Credit Card Checking Account 35,186.23

0050Wells Fargo Checking Account 0.00

0060 · Citibank Operating Account 1,742.14

0090 · County Held Construction Funds 35,575.74

Total 0001 · Cash and investments 2,525,526.53

Total Checking/Savings 2,525,526.53

Accounts Receivable

0110 · Accounts Receivable 469,333.21

Total Accounts Receivable 469,333.21

Other Current Assets

0070 · Due from LLJF 0.00

0160 · Deposit with others - long term 0.00

0420 · Prepaid Expenses 21,954.13

1500 · Over/under -8.62

Total Other Current Assets 21,945.51

Other Assets

Board Designated Facilities Improvement Fund 700,000.00

Due to  Facilities Improvement Fund -167,473.00

Amount reimbursed to Facilities Improv Fund -532,527.00

Total Other Assets 0.00

0200 · Renovation Work in Progress 78,510.77

0300 · Equipment

0340 · Equipment 406,900.67

0350 · Improvements 4,791,348.00

0360 · Furniture 336,908.07

0370 · IT Equipment 380,318.61

-1,773,836.00

Fixed Assets

0399 · Accumulated Depreciation



       Total Fixed Assets 4,220,150.12

34,594.59

TOTAL ASSETS 7,271,549.96

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

0511 · Accounts Payable 8,649.34

Total Accounts Payable 8,649.34

Credit Cards

0513 · Credit Card Debt

0513-GC - BoA - Gina Catalano 3,150.46

0513-JA · Citibank MC - J. Adkins 5.00

0513-SS  American Express- S Schweter 1,996.34

Total 0513 · Credit Card Debt 5,151.80

Other Current Liabilities

0515 · Deposits on Account

0517 · Security Deposits 116,711.00

0523 · Extended Services Deposits 8,153.12

Total 0515 · Deposits on Account 124,864.12

0519 · Sales Tax Payable 1.48

0520 · Accrued Payroll 177,356.74

0525 · Payroll Liabilities 1,319.64

0530 · Accrued Expenses 3,386.72

0530 · Capital Lease Payable 16,181.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 323,109.70

Total Current Liabilities 336,910.84

Long Term Liabilities

0650 · AOC Advance 223,022.00

Total Long Term Liabilities 223,022.00

Total Liabilities 559,932.84

Equity

0700 · Fund Balance

0740 · Fund Balance Available 5,376,771.50

Total 0700 · Fund Balance 5,376,771.50

Other Assets

0155 · Prepaid Subscriptions



3000 Opening Bal Equity 115,441.77

3900 · Retained Earnings 1,207,624.54

Net Income 11,779.31

Total Equity 6,711,617.12

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 7,271,549.96



San Diego County Public Law Library
Profit and Loss
Jul-15 Approved Projection

Actual Budget of Actual
Income: Jul-15 FY 2016 FY 2016
Income from Outside Sources:

9821 Filing Fees:  Superior Court 234,080                 2,545,000         2,545,000       
9950 Membership Fees 768                         55,000              55,000            
9190 Interest 2,374                      9,000                9,000              
9979 Donations 172                         1,000                1,000              
9990 Grants -                          15,000              15,000            
9970 Sponsorship Income -                          5,000                5,000              

Restricted Hervey Technology Grant -                     -                  
            Sub-Total Outside Sources: 237,394                 2,630,000         2,630,000       
Income from Library Sources:

9181 Fines 491                         7,000                7,000              
9730 Extended Services 15                           700                    700                  
9967 Copier Income 2,142                      35,000              35,000            
9994 Class fees 655                         6,000                6,000              
9996 Miscellaneous - Taxable 266                         5,000                5,000              
9995                          Nontaxable 265                         2,000                2,000              

            Sub-Total Library Sources: 3,834                      55,700              55,700            
                               TOTAL INCOME: 241,228                 2,685,700         2,685,700       
EXPENDITURES:
Personnel:

1101 Regular Employees 130,629                 1,250,000         1,250,000       
1102 Part-time Employees 5,681                      10,000              10,000            
1160 PERS Employer Contributions 10,198                    118,000            118,000          
1165 Employer's FICA Expense 2,156                      22,000              22,000            

Library Contributions - Health Benefits 
1170-AC             Active employees 10,577                    140,000            140,000          
1170-RT             Retirees 11,722                    140,000            140,000          



1170-LI LTD/Life/Dental 637                         12,000              12,000            
1175 Workers' Compensation 998                         18,000              18,000            
1185 Unemployment Expense -                          4,000                15,000            

             Sub-Total Personnel: 172,598                 1,714,000         1,725,000       
Materials:

2215 Electronic Resources 12,231                    102,000            102,000          
2326 Microforms -                          1,300                1,300              
2328 Compact Discs 267                         8,000                8,000              
2345 Books - New -                          1,000                1,000              
2346 Special Funds -                          -                     -                  
2347 Books - Disposable 16,632                    320,000            320,000          
2348 Books - Continuations 9,070                      110,000            110,000          
3470 CA Use/Sales Tax 347                         3,000                3,000              

              Sub-Total Materials: 38,547                    545,300            545,300          
Operations:

2244 Library Insurance -                          35,000              35,000            
2300 Memberships 100                         5,000                5,000              
2302 Copier/Print solution -                          33,500              33,500            

Miscellaneous:
2304-CC    Credit Card Acct. Charges 195                         6,000                6,000              
2304-RE    Recruiting -                          1,000                1,000              
2304-MC    Misc 333                         5,000                5,000              

Staff Appreciation 1,915                      5,000                5,000              
2305 Catalog Data Searches/Supplies 1,710                      6,000                6,000              
2306 Postage 1,084                      4,000                4,000              
2307 Printing/Copying 1,000                1,000              
2308 Binding -                          1,000                1,000              
2309 Collection Supplies (incl. tattle tape) -                          4,000                4,000              
2311 IT Supplies/Repairs -                          8,550                8,550              
2312 Office Supplies 180                         8,000                8,000              
2315 Professional & Special Services:

2315-AU      Audit 1,500                      9,000                9,000              
2315-LE      Legal -                          4,000                4,000              



2315-PA      Payroll 275                         5,000                5,000              
2315-SE      Security 4,172                      64,000              64,000            
2315-LL      Loose-leaf filing 810                         14,000              14,000            
2315-OT Professional Services-Other 690                         500                    500                  
2315-PV Preservation 1,000                1,000              
2315-WE Website -                          -                     -                  

2359 Employee Auto/Bus Passes/Parking 800                         23,000              23,000            
2365 Professional Memberships -                          4,000                4,000              
2362 Conferences/Seminars 2,084                      12,000              12,000            
2370 Public Relations 85                           8,000                8,000              
2390 IT:
2391 Computer Software -                          10,700              10,700            
2392 IT Outsourcing 1,621                      25,000              25,000            
2393 IT Maintenance -                          50,200              50,200            
2394 T-1/Internet 750                         50,600              50,600            

Hervey Technology Expense (see note) -                  
2453 Facilities -                          2,000                2,000              
4501 Equipment: 1,000                1,000              

4501-IT      IT Equipment -                          82,550              82,550            
Hervey Technology Equipment -                     -                  

4501-OF     Office -                          1,000                1,000              
4501-OT     Other -                          -                     -                  
5000 Depreciation 0
Reimbursement to reserves for purchase of Furniture & Technology 0 -                  

            Sub-Total Operations: 18,304                    490,600            490,600          
                      TOTAL EXPENDITURES: 229,449 2,749,900 2,760,900
                     OPERATING BALANCE: 11,779 (64,200) (75,200)



FILING FEES PAYMENT RECORDS - 2015/2016
 1 Month Completed

AOC AOC
Last year MONTH This Year

$254,898 JULY $234,080
 

$225,364 AUGUST

$216,443 SEPTEMBER

$238,708 OCTOBER

$178,204 NOVEMBER

$214,553 DECEMBER

$200,164 JANUARY

$187,935 FEBRUARY

$241,728 MARCH

$236,148 APRIL

$217,076 MAY

$220,698 JUNE

$2,631,919 TOTAL $234,080  
 

$219,327 Monthly Avg $234,080  
 

Monthly Average History:
Projection:

15 $219,327 Current Year: Budget Actual YTD Difference % of budget YTD
14 $231,426
13 $253,315
12 $275,394 July 212,000 $234,080 22,080 110.42% 234,080 Actual
11 $321,023 Aug. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
10 $331,851 Sept. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
09 $348,740 Oct. 213,000 (213,000) 0.00% 213,000 Projection
08 $321,354 Nov. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
07 $287,630 Dec. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
06 $267,751 Jan. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
05 $236,929 Feb. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
04 $223,022 Mar. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
03 $226,902 Apr. 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
02 $216,397 May 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
01 $197,101 June 212,000 (212,000) 0.00% 212,000 Projection
00 $202,556
99 $188,610
97 $171,946 $2,545,000 $234,080 (2,310,920) $2,567,080
96 $162,831
95 $160,868
94 $168,862



 
Item 5:  

Approval of Annual Report 
 
 
 

  



 

 

TO BE PROVIDED SEPARATELY  



 
Item 6:  

Bylaws Revision 
 
Part 1: Bylaw Draft as Redline document 

with revisions noted. 

 

Part 2:  Bylaw Draft as final with revisions 
hidden. 

 
  



San Diego County Public Law Library 
Board of Trustees 

Bylaws 
 

As revised August 2015.  
Last corrected: 8/25/2015 4:54 PM 

 
 

 
 

San Diego County Public Law Library  
Board of Trustees Bylaws Page 1 
 

I. Name 
 

A) The organization shall be called “The Board of Trustees of the San Diego 
County Public Law Library.” 

 
II. Creating Statutes and Provisions 
 

A) The Board of Trustees exists by virtue of the provisions of Chapter 5 of the 
California Business and Professions Code, sections 6300 through -63656363, 
as amended from time to time, and exercises the powers and authority and 
assumes the responsibilities delegated to it under that Code. 

 
1) A photocopy of the provisions of Chapter 5 of the current 
California Business and Professions Code, sections 6300-6365, shall 
be appended to these bylaws. 
 

B) The Board shall approve a Mission Statement for the San Diego County Public 
Law Library. 

 
1) A current version shall be appended to these bylaws.  A copy of the 

Mission Statement shall be made to any one requesting it. 
  

1)C) Regular Procedure 
 

1) These bylaws may be amended by a vote of fourfive Board members 
present at any duly noticed regular or special meeting. 
C) , provided that the proposed new bylaw or amendment to the 
bylaws is mailed to all trustees at least four (4) days before said 
meeting. 
  

D) Use of Robert's Rules of Order 
1) In all instances when these Bylaws are silent with regard to the 

conduct of Board business, then the latest available edition of Robert's 
Rules of Order shall control the parliamentary rules of the San Diego 
County Public Law Library Board of Trustees.  If Robert's Rules of 
Order is silent as well, then a resolution passed by the majority 
present at a meeting shall be controlling with regard to this matter 
only. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 2 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
III. Members 
 

A) Superior Court 
 

1) As per statute, The San Diego County Superior Court may shall elect 
up to five members to the Board.1 

2) A member of the Board from the Superior Court shall serve a term of 
three years.  Terms begin in January.  Judicial members may be re-
elected for succeeding terms, as the Superior Court desires. 

3) Terms shall be overlapping, with no more than two members elected 
each year.  If a member shall resign from the Board prior to the end of 
the term, then the Superior Court shall elect one of its members to 
serve the balance of the term. 

 
B) Attorney Members 

 
1) As per statute, The San Diego County Board of Supervisors shall 

appoint up tos four members to the Board of Trustees for three-year, 
overlapping terms. 2 At least one attorney shall be a member of the 
San Diego County Bar Association.Each year, the Chair of the Board of 
Supervisors may appoint a member of the Law Library Board of 
Trustees.  This member must be an attorney and must be approved by 
the Board of Supervisors.   

 
2) As per statute, Terms of attorney members begin in January.  Attorney 

members may be re-appointed for succeeding terms, as the Board of 
Supervisors desires.3 

 
C) Unfilled Vacancy and Removal of a Trustee 

 
1) In accordance with statute, The Board of Trustees may appoint a 

person to serve in the capacity of a trustee when there is an unfilled 
position on the Board.  6301.1(c) 
1) When the appointing authority acts to make an appointment in 
the regular manner, the term of a trustee appointed under this bylaw 
shall come to an end. 

                                                        
1 California Business & Professions Code §6301.1(a) 
2 California Business & Professions Code §6301.1(b) 
3 The San Diego County Board of Supervisors has a standing rule that its appointees to various boards serve until new 
appointments are made.  By that rule, attorney appointments to the Law Library Board of Trustees would serve beyond 
January if no subsequent appointments had yet been made, unless they formally resign.  If an attorney appointment 
formally resigns, then the Board of Trustees can fill the position temporarily, as set out by statute and these bylaws. 

Comment [CQ1]: Where's the authority for 
this? 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 3 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
2) In accordance with statute, The Board of Trustees may remove a 

trustee from the Board if he or she fails to attend three consecutive 
meetings and may fill all vacancies that from any cause occur in the 
board. 
2)  regularly, which is herein defined as attendance at two-thirds 
of all duly noticed meetings on an annual basis. 
 

3) The Secretary shall notify the proper appointing authority of any 
impending vacancies in a timely manner. 

 
D) Unfilled Vacancy and Removal of a Trustee 

 
1) In accordance with statute, the Board of Trustees may appoint a 

person to serve in the capacity of a trustee when there is an unfilled 
position on the Board.  When the appointing authority acts to make an 
appointment in the regular manner, the term of a trustee appointed 
under this bylaw shall come to an end. 

 
2) In accordance with statute, the Board may remove a trustee from the 

Board if he or she fails to attend meetings regularly, which is herein 
defined as attendance at two-thirds of all duly noticed meetings on an 
annual basis. 

 
3) The Secretary shall notify the proper appointing authority of any 

impending vacancies in a timely manner. 
 
IV. Officers of the Board 
 

A) President 
 

1) The Board shall elect appoint one from of its members to serve as Vice 
President/President Elect of the Board, who shall begin service as 
President at the first meeting of the calendar year subsequent to that 
election as Vice President/President Elect. If the Vice 
President/President Elect should choose not to serve, then an election 
for the office of President for that calendar year shall be held.  

 
2) The President shall serve for a term of one year. 

 
3) The President may not serve three consecutive terms, unless the Vice 

President/President Elect should choose not to serve as President, 
whereupon the President may serve a third term if elected in 
accordance with Bylaws IV.A.1 and IV.F. 

 

Comment [CQ2]: This is our own rule; it's not 
statutory. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 4 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

B) Vice President/President Elect 
 

1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Vice 
President/President Elect of the Board (hereinafter referred to as Vice 
President). 

 
2) The Vice President shall serve a term of one year. 

 
3) The Vice President shall become President upon the end of the term 

or the resignation of the incumbent President if the incumbent 
President should resign before the end of the term. 

 
4) A member may serve as Vice President/President Elect and President 

again after having served a term as President. 
 

C) Secretary 
 

1) The Director of Libraries of the San Diego County Public Law Library 
shall serve as Secretary4 to the Board of Trustees in an ex officio 
capacity, and is not considered a member of the Board for the 
purposes of these bylaws. 

 
2) The Secretary shall not have a vote at Board meetings. 

 
D) Assistant Secretary 

 
1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Assistant 

Secretary of the Board. 
 

2) The Assistant Secretary shall serve a term of one year. 
 

3) The Assistant Secretary may serve any number of consecutive terms. 
 

E) Treasurer 
 

1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Treasurer of 
the Board. 

 
2) The Treasurer shall serve a term of one year. 

 
3) The Treasurer may serve any number of consecutive terms. 

 
F) Election of Officers 

                                                        
4 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307 allows for the election of a secretary, who need not be a member of the Board. 

Comment [CQ3]: This is totally inconsistent 
with §6307 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 5 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
1) Except for the selection of the Secretary, an election for officers shall 

be held at the regularly scheduled January meeting once every year 
beginning with January, 1992. 

 
2) If a position on the Board is vacant at the time of a regularly scheduled 

election, the election may be delayed until the Board has its full 
complement of nine members, whereupon the officers previously 
serving shall continue in that capacity.  If a regularly scheduled 
election is delayed and one of the officer posts is vacant, the Board 
may elect a temporary officer for that post. 

 
3) If an officer post is vacated prior to the end of the term, the Board may 

hold an election at the next regularly scheduled meeting. 
 
V. Committees 
 

A) Membership of Committees 
 

1) All standing committees shall be composed only of Board members. 
 

2) All ad hoc committees, other than committees of the whole, shall be 
limited to no more than four board members, so that a meeting of a 
committee shall not constitute a quorum for the conduct of Board 
business.  Other individuals, duly appointed by the President with 
approval of the Board, may sit on committees and vote. 

2)  

3) The Secretary may attend committee meetings, but may not vote. 
 

B) Powers of Committees 
 

1) No committee will have other than advisory powers unless, by 
suitable action of the Board, it is granted specific power to act. 

 
C) Types of Committees 

 
1) Standing committees are permanent committeeshave continuing 

subject matter jurisdiction.  The members shall be chosen as defined 
in these bylaws.  Members shall serve for a term of one year, but may 
be reappointed consecutively for any number of terms. 

 
(a) There are two standing committees:  Personnel and Budget. 
(a)(b) A standing committee is subject to the Ralph M. Brown 

Act. 

Comment [CQ4]: Ad Hoc subcommittees are 
supposed to be less than a quorum 

Comment [CQ5]: Suggest deleting this. 

Comment [CQ6]: Not if this creates a quorum 
of Board members. If the Secretary is a Board 
member, which is what I think the secretary 
should be per the B & P Code, then this creates a 
quorum. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 6 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
2) Ad hoc committees are temporary committees which serve a limited 

or single purpose that is not perpetual and dissolve once the 
committee’s task is completed. An ad hoc committee is composed 
solely of less than a quorum. 

(a) The Board may create ad hoc committees by resolution. 
(b) A resolution creating an ad hoc committee may specify how 

its members are chosen or may even specify which 
members of the Board shall serve on the committee.  If there 
is no specific statement on the membership of the 
committee, then the President shall appoint the members of 
the committee. 

2) An ad hoc committee is not subject to the Ralph M. Brown 
Act. and the Secretary shall serve as the recording secretary 
for the committee in an ex officio capacity without vote. 

3)(c) have a definite period of existence. 
 

4)3) Reports, resolutions, motions, and other items of business brought to 
a Board meeting by a committee shall automatically have the floor 
without need of a second. 

 
D) Personnel Committee 

 
1) The President shall appoint members of the Board to serve on a 

Personnel Committee, one of which whom shall be designated 
Chairman.   
1) The Secretary shall serve on the committee in an ex officio 
capacity, without vote, and shall record the proceedings of the 
committee. 
 

2) The Personnel Committee shall be charged with oversight of the 
personnel policy of the Law Library. 

 
3) The Personnel Committee shall make appropriate recommendations 

on salary, compensation and fringe benefits of the Law Library staff to 
the Board as a whole. 

 
 Budget Committee 
E)  

  
4) The President shall appoint members of the Board to serve on a  

Budget Committee.  The Secretary shall serve on the committee in an 
ex officio capacity, without vote, and shall record the proceedings of 
the committee. 

1)  



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 7 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

5) The Budget Committee shall be charged with oversight of the 
budgetary and accounting policy of the Law Library. 

2)  
  
 The Budget Committee shall annually make appropriate budget 

recommendations on budget to the Board as a whole, including any 
cost of living adjustment for staff. 

3)  
E)  

F) Ad Hoc Committees 
 

1) The Board may create ad hoc committees by resolution.  Such 
committees shall have a specified term of existence.  If there is no specific 
term of existence stated in the resolution, then a term of one year shall be 
implied, but the committee's existence may be renewed by further 
resolution of the Board. 

  
2) A resolution creating an ad hoc committee may specify how its 

members are chosen or may even specify which members of the Board 
shall serve on the committee.  If there is no specific statement on the 
membership of the committee, then the President shall appoint the 
members of the committee and the Secretary shall serve as the recording 
secretary for the committee in an ex officio capacity without vote. 

 
3) An ad hoc committee may not become a standing committee without a 

change in the Board's bylaws. 
 

G) Committee meetings 
 

1) All standing committee meetings must be noticed in accordance with 
the Ralph M. Brown Open Meeting Law. 
 

2) An ad hoc committee meeting with five or more trustees present must 
be noticed, in accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Open Meeting Law.  
An ad hoc committee with four or fewer trustees present, regardless 
of the number of non-trustees present, need not be noticed. 

 
3) Even though there may be enough trustees present at a committee to 

constitute a quorum of the Board, no action by a committee shall be 
final unless previously authorized by the Board. 

 
VI. Meetings 

 
A) Time of Time and Place of Meetings 

 

Comment [CQ7]: Incorrect & Consolidated into 
V.C. to extend it is accurate. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 8 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

1) The Ralph M. Brown Act 
(a)1) All meetings shall be held in conformity with the Ralph M. Brown Act 

(Open Meetings Law)., California Government Code sections 54950 
through 549632. 

 
2) Regularly scheduled meetings 

(a) The Board by resolution shall determine the appropriate 
meeting timedates, times, and location for its regularly 
scheduled monthly meetings, in accordance with statute. 

(b) Each December, the Secretary shall establish a calendar for 
the subsequent year creating a regularly scheduled meeting 
each calendar month, in accordance with Board resolution.  
The Secretary may vary the schedule slightly in order to 
avoid conflict with holidays. 

(c) The Secretary shall post the an agenda describing the 
matters to be discussed in a location accessible to the public 
and on the Law Library’s website at least 72 hours in 
advance of the meeting. Citation Code 
54954.2(a)(1).calendar of regularly scheduled meetings on 
the Law Library's public bulletin board. 
 

3) Special meetings 
(a) The President of the Board, or a majority of Board Members, 

may call a special meeting in emergency situations to handle 
a discrete matter or matters. specified when the meeting is 
first called.  A special meeting cannot be called to handle a 
closed session matter. 

(b) Except as follows, there shall be at least twenty-four hours 
notice of a special meeting.  The notice and any 
accompanying agenda shall be posted at least 24 hours prior 
to the special meeting5 in a location accessible to the public 
and on the Law Library’s website. 

(c) A Special meeting may not be called regarding the salaries, 
salary schedules, or compensation of a local agency 
executive §54956(b) 

(b)(d) No items of business not agendized may be discussed.   
 

(1) The twenty-four hour rule does not apply for an 
emergency meeting, as defined by the Brown Act, 
California Government Code 54956.5, which 
requires a determination by a majority that a 
work stoppage, other activity, or crippling 

                                                        
5 Cal. Govt. Code § 54956. 

Comment [CQ8]: Move to footnote. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 9 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

disaster that severely impairs public health or 
safety exists.  The notice and any accompanying 
agenda should be sent and posted as soon as 
possible. 
 

(c) All items allowed for discussion or action at a special 
meeting must be stated in an agenda accompanying the 
message calling for a special meeting. No items of business 
not stated in the agenda shall be brought up at the special 
meeting. 

  
(1) An exception to the agenda requirement can be 

made for an agenda item postponed from a 
previous meeting held not more than five days 
before that was specifically continued to the 
special meeting. 

(d) The Secretary shall be informed of the call for a special 
meeting and shall make all effort to notify all Board 
members of the special meeting.  The Secretary shall 
immediately post the announcement of the special meeting 
and its agenda on the Law Library public bulletin board. 

(e) Items decided at a special meeting are subject at the next 
regularly scheduled meeting to a motion for review by any 
Board member who did not attend the special meeting. 

4) Emergency Meetings 
(a) An emergency meeting may be held if prompt action is 

needed due to actual or threatened disruption of public 
facilities. §54956.5 

(b) News media who have requested written notice of special 
meetings must be given telephonic notice of the meeting at 
least one hour I advance. 

(c) The notice and agenda should be posted in a location 
accessible to the public and on the Law Library’s website as 
soon as possible. 
  

4)5) Place of Meetings 
(a) All meetings shall normally be held in the Board Room of 

the San Diego County Public Law Library, located at 1105 
Front Street, San Diego, California.  

(a)  
  

(b) A Board meeting may be held at another location by order of 
a Board resolution passed at a previous regularly scheduled 
Board meeting. 

  



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 10 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

(b)6) Conduct of Meeting 
  
 Presiding Officer 
(a)  

5)(1) The presiding officer at meetings shall be the 
President.President shall preside over Board 
meetings. 

 
6)(2) If the President is not at a meetingpresent, the 

presiding officer shall be chosen from the other 
voting members of the Board in the following 
order:  the Vice President, the Assistant 
Secretary, other members of the Board in the 
order of seniority on the Board. 

 
B)(b) Recording Officer 

 
1)(1) The officer in charge of recording the minutes of 

meetings shall be the SecretaryThe Secretary 
shall record the minutes of each meeting and 
perform the other responsibilities required by 
the statute.6. 

 
2)(2) If the Secretary is not at a meeting, the recording 

officer shall be chosen from the voting members 
of the Board in the following order, except that 
an officer or member serving as presiding officer 
at that meeting shall be skipped:  the Assistant 
Secretary, the Vice President, other members of 
the Board in the order of seniority on the Board. 

 
C)(c) Quorum 

 
1)(1) A quorum for the conduct of business shall 

normally consist of five members of the Board 
sitting in session.7 

 
2)(2) If two or more Board member positions are 

vacant, then four members sitting in session 
shall constitute a quorum.8 

 

                                                        
6 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307. 
7 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6304 
8 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6304 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 11 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

(3) Proxy votes are not available.  However, a Board 
member who will miss a meeting may express 
his or her opinion to another member or the 
Secretary for statement at the meeting during 
discussion. 

  
3)(4) An affirmative vote of a majority of the members 

of the Board is required to take action. §6304 
 
D) Vote without a Quorum 

 
1) If a Board meeting fails to achieve a quorum, but the Board desires to 

decide an action in an emergency situation or because of a time 
requirement, then the Board may use a messenger or phone ballot in 
the following manner: 
 

2) Discussion on the item shall be appropriate at the meeting. 
 

 
3) A resolution calling for a messenger or phone ballot may be passed by 

a majority of the members present at the meeting. 
 

4) The Secretary shall then record the action of the meeting and draw up 
a written resolution of the action. 

 
5) The Secretary shall then poll the remaining members who did not 

attend the meeting for a yea or nay on the resolution.  Ordinarily, the 
Secretary or his appointed messenger shall present the item to the 
remaining members in writing and ask for a signature from each 
member approving the resolution.  The poll on a simple item may be 
conducted by phone, followed by written documentation later. 

 
6) If the resolution shall receive a yea vote from five members, including 

both those at the meeting and those polled by messenger or phone, 
then the item shall be considered approved, and action can be taken. 

 
7) Any resolution approved in such a manner shall be subject to a motion 

for review by any member at the next regularly scheduled meeting at 
which a quorum is present. 

 
8) No bylaw or amendment to a bylaw may be adopted in such a manner. 

 
E)(d) Agenda 

 
1) Preparation of the agenda and all materials 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 12 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

appurtenant to it shall be in conformity to 
provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

 
2) At the President’s direction, the Executive 

Director of the Law LibraryThe Secretary shall 
prepare the agenda for regularly scheduled 
Board meetings and send the agenda to all Board 
members at least one week prior to the 
meeting.9  The Secretary shall post the agenda on 
the usual public bulletin board at least three 
business days before the meeting. 

(1)  

(a)(2) Materials prepared to accompany the agenda 
shall be sent to all members and shall be 
available for public inspection as soon as 
available.at the Administration Office of the 
Library.  Those materials relevant to closed 
session matters, such as personnel matters, shall 
not be made available for public inspection, even 
if the item is included on the consent agenda. 

 
(3) Agenda materials shall be available at the 

meeting location and on the Law Library’s 
website. 

  
3)(4) Any Board member may have an item included 

on the agenda if the request is made to the 
President at least ten days prior to the meeting.  
The Secretary shall endeavor to accommodate 
later requests as well. 

 
4) If the Secretary is not available to send out the 

agenda for a regularly scheduled meeting, then 
the next available officer of the Board may 
prepare and send the agenda, in the following 
order:  the President, the Vice President, the 
Assistant Secretary, other members of the Board 
in order of seniority on the Board. 

 
F)(e) Consent Agenda 

 
1)(1) The President shall identify items that are to be 

                                                        
9 Cal. Govt. Code § 54954.2. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 13 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

placed on the consent agenda. As determined by 
the Secretary, with the concurrence of the 
President, a portion of the agenda of a regularly 
scheduled meeting may be designated as a 
consent agenda.  All information items related to 
the consent agenda shall be distributed with the 
agenda sent out in accordance with the rule on 
sending out agendas for regular meetings. 

 
2)(2) Any member or member of the public may 

remove an item from the consent agenda by 
notifying the President of his or her desire to 
address the item. The consent agenda shall be 
the first item of business on the agenda after any 
public comment.  The members sitting at the 
meeting shall be polled by the presiding officer 
to see if any one of them desires that an item(s) 
be removed from the consent agenda and placed 
on the regular agenda.  A single request is 
sufficient to remove an item. 

 
3) After the members have been polled and items 

have been removed, the presiding officer will 
entertain an automatic motion that the 
remaining items on the consent agenda be 
approved.  A simple majority of members 
present may approve the consent agenda. 

 
G) Format of the Consent Agenda 

 
1) The consent agenda shall list items by number to 

ease the polling process. 
 

2) Each item shall have a specific recommendation 
for Board action from the Secretary. 

 
H) Items Not Allowed on the Consent Agenda 

 
1)(3) No item requiring more than a majority of the 

members of the Board may be placed on the 
consent agenda. 

 
2)(4) No proposed bylaw or amendment to a proposed 

or existing bylaw may be placed on the consent 
agenda. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 14 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
I)(f) Conduct of Meetings 

 
1)(1) The order of business for regular meetings shall 

include, but not be limited to, the following items 
which shall be covered in the sequence shown so 
far as circumstances will permit: 

 
a. Roll call. 
b. Non-Agenda Public Comment. [FN 

Government Code § 54954.3 (a) 
2)c. Communications Board, Library staff, 

and requests for continuances. 
 

3) Public presentation to, or discussion with, the 
Board, of items not on the agenda.  Except in 
emergency situations as otherwise noted in 
these bylaws, the Board cannot act on such items 
until they have been given proper notice at a 
subsequent meeting. 

 
4) Polling of members with regard to the consent agenda. 
 

5)(g) Disposition of the consent agenda, which may include, but is 
not limited to, the following items, unless pulled for 
discussion: 

 
(a)(1) Disposition of the minutes of the previous 

regular and/or special meeting. 
 

(b)(2) The Director's financial report. 
 

(3) Routine resolutions required for the proper 
conduct of business by other agencies, e.g., 
resolutions on bank signature cards, resolutions 
on insurance purchases, annual resolutions on 
medical benefits. 

  
(c)(4) Discussion Items 

 
(d) Informational reports of the Director and/or 

members. 
 

6)a. Committee reports. 
 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 15 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

7) Communications to the Board. 
 
8) Unfinished business. 
 
9) New business. 
 

b. Adjournment. 
(h) Non-Agenda Items, Which may include: 

(1) A continued item from a properly posted agenda 
at a meeting held five days or less before the date 
action is taken on the item. Upon a vote of two-
thirds vote of the Board, or if less than two-
thirds of the members are present, a unanimous 
vote; or 

(2) That the need to take action arose after the 
agenda was posted; 

(i) Upon a determination of a majority that an emergency 
exists.10 

10)(j) ??The public may comment on any item of business 
before the Board votes. 

 
J) Motions and Resolutions 

 
1) All motions and written resolutions presented as a part of the consent 

agenda shall be presented in full and accompany the distribution of 
the consent agenda prior to the meeting. 
 

2) All lengthy resolutions should be written in full. 
 

3) All resolutions written in full that are passed by the Board shall be 
appended to the minutes for the meeting at which action was taken.  
Short resolutions or motions may be recorded directly in the minutes. 

 
4) Any motion or resolution presented by a committee is automatically 

in order.  The motion to pass the consent agenda after items have 
been removed is automatically in order.  All other motions and 
resolutions require a maker and a second. 

 
5) Action on an item not listed in the agenda requires a previous motion 

in accordance with the Brown Act, California Government Code 
section 54954.2, to wit:  A determination by six members of the Board 
(or four members if one or more positions are vacant), or, if six 
members are not present at the meeting, by a unanimous vote of those 

                                                        
10 California Government Code §54954.2(b) 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 16 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

members present, that the need to take action arose subsequent to the 
agenda being posted.  Two exceptions are possible:  (1) An agenda 
item postponed from a meeting held not more than five days before, 
at which the item was continued specifically to the meeting at which 
action is taken.  (2) Items taken up at an emergency meeting, as 
defined in these bylaws. 

 
K)7) Voting 
 

1)(a) The presiding officer of a meeting may vote on any measure 
and may offer or second any motions, resolutions, or 
amendments.  The presiding officer need not announce his 
or her vote unless determinative of the outcome. 

 
2)(b) A member of the Board should abstain from voting on any 

measure which may present a conflict of interest.  Such 
abstention shall not affect the quorum. 

 
3)(c) Unless otherwise noted in these bylaws or by Board 

resolution requiring a super-majority with regard to a 
specific item, an affirmative vote of five members is 
required to take action, except for actions related to 
obtaining a quorum or adjourning a meeting. 

 
4)(d) The Secretary shall record the count for any vote containing 

both yeas and nays.11 
 

5) Unless requested by a member of the Board, the Secretary need not record the names of 
members voting yea or nay or abstain.  A member may request that the whole Board's vote 
be recorded or only that his or her own vote be recorded. 
 
VII. Director of Libraries and Staff 

 
A) The Director of Libraries12 

 
1) The Director of Libraries ("Director") is the chief administrative 

officer of the San Diego County Public Law Library, serving at the 
discretion of the Board and with compensation determined by the 
Board.  The Director also holds the post of Secretary of the Board ex 
officio. 

1)  

                                                        
11 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307. 
12 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6345. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 17 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

2) The Board shall establish rules and  arrange for a specific 
recommendation for salaryapprove the salary and and compensation 
for the Director annually. 

 
B) Other Staff 

 
1) The Director shall appoint and specify the duties of other employees 

and shall be held responsible for the proper direction and supervision 
of the staff, and delegation of duties to it. 
 

2) In accordance with general policy approved by the Board, the Director 
shall determine staff compensation, evaluations, and promotions, 
subject to budget approved by the board.  

 
C) Duties of the Director and the Staff 

 
1) The Director and the staff shall be responsible for the care and 

maintenance of the Library's property, for an adequate and proper 
selection of books in keeping with the stated policy of the Board, for 
the efficiency of library service to the public and for its financial 
operation within the limitations of the budgeted appropriation. 
 

2) All duties carried out by staff shall conform to the policies established 
by the Board, including the Mission Statement. 

 
VIII. Financial Rules13 

 
A) The fiscal year shall be July 1 to June 30. 

 
B) The annual budget for the San Diego County Public Law Library shall be 

approved by the Board prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.  The Board 
may alter the budget during the year during a noticed meeting and subject to 
approval by a properly constituted quorum of the Board. 

 
C) The Director and staff of the Law Library shall endeavor to stay within the 

budget established by the Board.  The Director shall report all instances 
when expenses go beyond the amount budgeted to the Board during the 
Director's regularly scheduled financial report. 

 
1) The Director shall have authority to increase a budget line in a new 

fiscal year to allow one-time purchases that were budgeted and 

                                                        
13 Amended March 25, 1992, July 29, 1992, November 23, 1994, and September 25, 1996.  Amended March 24, 2004, to 
reflect changed procedures created when the Library=s accounts were brought in-house and the Library began to produce 
its own checks. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 18 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

supposed to occur in the previous fiscal year, provided that those 
purchases were included in estimates of year-end figures when 
budgeting for the new year.  Such budget increases and purchases 
shall be reported routinely as "year-end rollover" purchases in the 
Director's regularly scheduled financial report. 
 

D) The County Auditor shall be advised that it is the desire of the Board of the 
Law Library that the Auditor disregard instances of the Law Library's 
expenditures exceeding its budget figures (called "appropriations" by the 
Auditor), other than notifying the Law Library in the routine manner.  No 
action need be taken by the County Auditor in such instances.14  (Board 
resolution, June 10, 1976.)15 
 

E) The Director is authorized to make purchases of any amount within a budget 
line previously approved by the Board. 

 
F) The following people are authorized to act as check and warrant request 

signers: 
 

1) The  Secretary (Director. of Libraries). 
 

2) The President. 
 

3) The Treasurer. 
 

4) Other Board member(s) authorized by Board resolution. 
 

G) The following dispositions of funds shall require two signatures: 
 
1) Approval of wire transfers made to the County Auditor to be drawn 

from the Law Library Trust Fund. 
 
2) All checks over $5,000. 

 
3) Payroll checks made in addition to those processed by the Library’s 

payroll service.16 
 

4) Checks from accounts established from income from sources other 
than civil court filing fees, including the Mastercard/Visa account. 

                                                        
14 Cal. Bus. and Prof. Code § 6325. 
15 Upon the change to bring the Library’s accounts in-house in March 2004, the County Auditor would notify the Law 
Library only when the total budgeted amount of expenditures for the year was exceeded. 
16 In an emergency situation, such as a lost or stolen payroll check, an emergency check may be written from the revolving 
fund, with subsequent approval of the Board’s Treasurer. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 19 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
H) Any check written to a library staff member who can sign checks must be 

signed by at least one trustee. 
 
I) The following dispositions of funds shall require one signature.  In no event 

shall such a disposition be made to the signer or to any party in which the 
signer has a property interest. 

 
1) Checks under $5,000, made from the Library’s regular accounts.  A 

summary of all such checks must be countersigned by the Treasurer 
or other trustee before the checks are disbursed. 
 

2) Revolving fund checks, which are limited by statute not to exceed 
$750.00.of not more than $50,000 for expenditures not exceeding 
$10,000 each.17 

 
J) On a regular basis, preferably once a month, the Treasurer shall examine 

reports and logs and the Library’s check register submitted by the Secretary 
and the Library's Financial Administrator so as to track all checks and 
requests made against Library funds. 
 

K) Financial rules for affiliated organizations, including the Law Library Justice 
Foundation, shall be handled within the bylaws of those respective 
organizations. 

 
IX. Bylaws and Amendments to Bylaws 
 
A) Board Bylaws 
 
1) Regular Procedure 
 
(a) These bylaws may be amended by a vote of four Board members present at any duly 
noticed regular or special meeting, provided that the proposed new bylaw or amendment 
to the bylaws is mailed to all trustees at least four (4) days before said meeting. 
 
2) Emergency Procedure 
 
(a) These bylaws may be amended by the Board by a vote of four Board members 
present at any duly noticed regular or special meeting at which a quorum is present, even 
without notice of the proposed action as an agenda item, if both of the following conditions 
are met: 
 
(1) A determination is made by two-thirds of the Board, or of all the members present 
                                                        
17 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6326  (Amended 1994). 

Comment [CQ9]: Do we do this? 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 20 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

at the meeting if less than two-thirds of the Board is present at the meeting, that the need 
to take action arose subsequent to the posting of the agenda, except that the Board may not 
amend the bylaws in violation of California statutes; and 
 
(2) Consent in writing of all Board members is obtained during or after the meeting. 
 
B) Use of Robert's Rules of Order 
 
1) In all instances when these Bylaws are silent with regard to the conduct of Board 
business, then the latest available edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall control the 
parliamentary rules of the San Diego County Public Law Library Board of Trustees.  If 
Robert's Rules of Order is silent as well, then a resolution passed by the majority present at 
a meeting shall be controlling with regard to this matter only. 



San Diego County Public Law Library 
Board of Trustees 

Bylaws 
 

As revised August 2015.  
Last corrected: 8/25/2015 4:54 PM 

 
 

 
 

San Diego County Public Law Library  
Board of Trustees Bylaws Page 1 
 

I. Name 
 

A) The organization shall be called “The Board of Trustees of the San Diego 
County Public Law Library.” 

 
II. Creating Statutes and Provisions 
 

A) The Board of Trustees exists by virtue of the provisions of Chapter 5 of the 
California Business and Professions Code, sections 6300 through 6363, as 
amended from time to time, and exercises the powers and authority and 
assumes the responsibilities delegated to it under that Code. 

 
B) The Board shall approve a Mission Statement for the San Diego County Public 

Law Library. 
1) A current version shall be appended to these bylaws.  A copy of the 

Mission Statement shall be made to any one requesting it. 
 

C) Regular Procedure 
1) These bylaws may be amended by a vote of five Board members 

present at any duly noticed regular or special meeting. 
 

D) Use of Robert's Rules of Order 
1) In all instances when these Bylaws are silent with regard to the 

conduct of Board business, then the latest available edition of Robert's 
Rules of Order shall control the parliamentary rules of the San Diego 
County Public Law Library Board of Trustees.  If Robert's Rules of 
Order is silent as well, then a resolution passed by the majority 
present at a meeting shall be controlling with regard to this matter 
only. 

 
III. Members 

A) Superior Court 
 

1) The San Diego County Superior Court shall elect up to five members to 
the Board.1 

                                                        
1 California Business & Professions Code §6301.1(a) 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 2 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

2) A member of the Board from the Superior Court shall serve a term of 
three years.  Terms begin in January.  Judicial members may be re-
elected for succeeding terms, as the Superior Court desires. 

3) Terms shall be overlapping, with no more than two members elected 
each year.  If a member shall resign from the Board prior to the end of 
the term, then the Superior Court shall elect one of its members to 
serve the balance of the term. 

 
B) Attorney Members 

1) The San Diego County Board of Supervisors shall appoint up to four 
members to the Board of Trustees for three-year, overlapping terms. 2 
At least one attorney shall be a member of the San Diego County Bar 
Association. 

 
2) Terms of attorney members begin in January.  Attorney members may 

be re-appointed for succeeding terms, as the Board of Supervisors 
desires.3 

 
C) Unfilled Vacancy and Removal of a Trustee 

1) The Board of Trustees may appoint a person to serve in the capacity 
of a trustee when there is an unfilled position on the Board.  6301.1(c) 
 

2) The Board of Trustees may remove a trustee from the Board if he or 
she fails to attend three consecutive meetings and may fill all 
vacancies that from any cause occur in the board. 
 

3) The Secretary shall notify the proper appointing authority of any 
impending vacancies in a timely manner. 

 
IV. Officers of the Board 

A) President 
 

1) The Board shall appoint one of its members to serve as Vice 
President/President Elect of the Board, who shall begin service as 
President at the first meeting of the calendar year subsequent to that 
election as Vice President/President Elect. If the Vice 
President/President Elect should choose not to serve, then an election 
for the office of President for that calendar year shall be held.  

                                                        
2 California Business & Professions Code §6301.1(b) 
3 The San Diego County Board of Supervisors has a standing rule that its appointees to various boards serve until new 
appointments are made.  By that rule, attorney appointments to the Law Library Board of Trustees would serve beyond 
January if no subsequent appointments had yet been made, unless they formally resign.  If an attorney appointment 
formally resigns, then the Board of Trustees can fill the position temporarily, as set out by statute and these bylaws. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 3 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
2) The President shall serve for a term of one year. 

 
3) The President may not serve three consecutive terms, unless the Vice 

President/President Elect should choose not to serve as President, 
whereupon the President may serve a third term if elected in 
accordance with Bylaws IV.A.1 and IV.F. 

 
B) Vice President/President Elect 

1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Vice 
President/President Elect of the Board (hereinafter referred to as Vice 
President). 

 
2) The Vice President shall serve a term of one year. 

 
3) The Vice President shall become President upon the end of the term 

or the resignation of the incumbent President if the incumbent 
President should resign before the end of the term. 

 
4) A member may serve as Vice President/President Elect and President 

again after having served a term as President. 
 

C) Secretary 
 

1) The Director of Libraries of the San Diego County Public Law Library 
shall serve as Secretary4 to the Board of Trustees in an ex officio 
capacity, and is not considered a member of the Board for the 
purposes of these bylaws. 

 
2) The Secretary shall not have a vote at Board meetings. 

 
D) Assistant Secretary 

1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Assistant 
Secretary of the Board. 

 
2) The Assistant Secretary shall serve a term of one year. 

 
3) The Assistant Secretary may serve any number of consecutive terms. 

 
E) Treasurer 

1) The Board shall elect one from its members to serve as Treasurer of 
the Board. 

 
                                                        
4 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307 allows for the election of a secretary, who need not be a member of the Board. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 4 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

2) The Treasurer shall serve a term of one year. 
 

3) The Treasurer may serve any number of consecutive terms. 
 

F) Election of Officers 
1) Except for the selection of the Secretary, an election for officers shall 

be held at the regularly scheduled January meeting once every year. 
 

2) If a position on the Board is vacant at the time of a regularly scheduled 
election, the election may be delayed until the Board has its full 
complement of members, whereupon the officers previously serving 
shall continue in that capacity.  If a regularly scheduled election is 
delayed and one of the officer posts is vacant, the Board may elect a 
temporary officer for that post. 

 
3) If an officer post is vacated prior to the end of the term, the Board may 

hold an election at the next regularly scheduled meeting. 
 
V. Committees 
 

A) Membership of Committees 
1) All standing committees shall be composed only of Board members. 

 
2) All ad hoc committees, other than committees of the whole, shall be 

limited to no more than four board members, so that a meeting of a 
committee shall not constitute a quorum for the conduct of Board 
business.  

3) The Secretary may attend committee meetings, but may not vote. 
 

B) Powers of Committees 
1) No committee will have other than advisory powers unless, by 

suitable action of the Board, it is granted specific power to act. 
 

C) Types of Committees 
1) Standing committees are have continuing subject matter jurisdiction.  

The members shall be chosen as defined in these bylaws.  Members 
shall serve for a term of one year, but may be reappointed 
consecutively for any number of terms. 

 
(a) There are two standing committees:  Personnel and Budget. 
(b) A standing committee is subject to the Ralph M. Brown Act. 

 
2) Ad hoc committees are temporary committees which serve a limited 

or single purpose that is not perpetual and dissolve once the 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 5 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

committee’s task is completed. An ad hoc committee is composed 
solely of less than a quorum. 

(a) The Board may create ad hoc committees by resolution. 
(b) A resolution creating an ad hoc committee may specify how 

its members are chosen or may even specify which 
members of the Board shall serve on the committee.  If there 
is no specific statement on the membership of the 
committee, then the President shall appoint the members of 
the committee. 

(c) An ad hoc committee is not subject to the Ralph M. Brown 
Act. 

 
3) Reports, resolutions, motions, and other items of business brought to 

a Board meeting by a committee shall automatically have the floor 
without need of a second. 

 
D) Personnel Committee 

1) The President shall appoint members of the Board to serve on a 
Personnel Committee, one of whom shall be designated Chairman.   
 

2) The Personnel Committee shall be charged with oversight of the 
personnel policy of the Law Library. 

 
3) The Personnel Committee shall make appropriate recommendations 

on salary, compensation and fringe benefits of the Law Library staff to 
the Board as a whole. 

 
E) Budget Committee 

1) The President shall appoint members of the Board to serve on a 
Budget Committee.   

2) The Budget Committee shall be charged with oversight of the 
budgetary and accounting policy of the Law Library. 

3) The Budget Committee shall annually make budget recommendations 
on budget to the Board as a whole, including any cost of living 
adjustment for staff. 

 
VI. Meetings 

 
A) Time of Meetings 

1) All meetings shall be held in conformity with the Ralph M. Brown Act 
(Open Meetings Law). California Government Code sections 54950 
through 54963. 

 
2) Regularly scheduled meetings 

(a) The Board by resolution shall determine the dates, times, 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 6 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

and location for its regularly scheduled monthly meetings. 

(b) Each December, the Secretary shall establish a calendar for 
the subsequent year creating a regularly scheduled meeting 
each calendar month, in accordance with Board resolution.  
The Secretary may vary the schedule slightly in order to 
avoid conflict with holidays. 
The Secretary shall post the an agenda describing the 
matters to be discussed in a location accessible to the public 
and on the Law Library’s website at least 72 hours in 
advance of the meeting. Citation Code 54954.2(a)(1). 

3) Special meetings 
(a) The President of the Board, or a majority of Board Members, 

may call a special meeting to handle a discrete matter or 
matters. 

(b) Except as follows, there shall be at least twenty-four hours 
notice of a special meeting.  The notice and any 
accompanying agenda shall be posted at least 24 hours prior 
to the special meeting5 in a location accessible to the public 
and on the Law Library’s website. 

(c) A Special meeting may not be called regarding the salaries, 
salary schedules, or compensation of a local agency 
executive §54956(b) 

(d) No items of business not agendized may be discussed.   
 

 
4) Emergency Meetings 

(a) An emergency meeting may be held if prompt action is 
needed due to actual or threatened disruption of public 
facilities. §54956.5 

(b) News media who have requested written notice of special 
meetings must be given telephonic notice of the meeting at 
least one hour I advance. 

(c) The notice and agenda should be posted in a location 
accessible to the public and on the Law Library’s website as 
soon as possible. 
 

5) Place of Meetings 
(a) All meetings shall be held in the Board Room of the San 

Diego County Public Law Library, located at 1105 Front 
Street, San Diego, California.  

(b) A Board meeting may be held at another location by order of 
a Board resolution passed at a previous regularly scheduled 

                                                        
5 Cal. Govt. Code § 54956. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 7 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

Board meeting. 
 

6) Conduct of Meeting 
(a) Presiding Officer 

(1) The President shall preside over Board meetings. 
 

(2) If the President is not present, the presiding 
officer shall be chosen from the other voting 
members of the Board in the following order:  
the Vice President, the Assistant Secretary, other 
members of the Board in the order of seniority 
on the Board. 

 
(b) Recording Officer 

(1) The Secretary shall record the minutes of each 
meeting and perform the other responsibilities 
required by the statute.6 

 
(2) If the Secretary is not at a meeting, the recording 

officer shall be chosen from the voting members 
of the Board in the following order, except that 
an officer or member serving as presiding officer 
at that meeting shall be skipped:  the Assistant 
Secretary, the Vice President, other members of 
the Board in the order of seniority on the Board. 

 
(c) Quorum 

(1) A quorum for the conduct of business shall 
consist of five members of the Board.7 

 
(2) If two or more Board member positions are 

vacant, then four members sitting in session 
shall constitute a quorum.8 

 
(3) Proxy votes are not available.  However, a Board 

member who will miss a meeting may express 
his or her opinion to another member or the 
Secretary for statement at the meeting during 
discussion. 

 
(4) An affirmative vote of a majority of the members 

                                                        
6 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307. 
7 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6304 
8 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6304 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 8 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

of the Board is required to take action. §6304 
 

 
(d) Agenda 

 
(1) At the President’s direction, the Executive 

Director of the Law Library shall prepare the 
agenda for regularly scheduled Board meetings 
and send the agenda to all Board members at 
least one week prior to the meeting.9   

(2) Materials shall be sent to all members and shall 
be available for public inspection as soon as 
available.  Those materials relevant to closed 
session matters, such as personnel matters, shall 
not be made available for public inspection, even 
if the item is included on the consent agenda. 

 
(3) Agenda materials shall be available at the 

meeting location and on the Law Library’s 
website. 

 
(4) Any Board member may have an item included 

on the agenda if the request is made to the 
President at least ten days prior to the meeting.   

 
 

(e) Consent Agenda 
 

(1) The President shall identify items that are to be 
placed on the consent agenda.  

 
(2) Any member or member of the public may 

remove an item from the consent agenda by 
notifying the President of his or her desire to 
address the item.  

 
 

(3) No item requiring more than a majority of the 
members of the Board may be placed on the 
consent agenda. 

 
(4) No proposed bylaw or amendment to a proposed 

                                                        
9 Cal. Govt. Code § 54954.2. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 9 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

or existing bylaw may be placed on the consent 
agenda. 

 
(f) Conduct of Meetings 

 
(1) The order of business for regular meetings shall 

include, but not be limited to, the following items 
which shall be covered in the sequence shown so 
far as circumstances will permit: 

 
a. Roll call. 
b. Non-Agenda Public Comment. [FN 

Government Code § 54954.3 (a) 
c. Communications Board, Library staff, 

and requests for continuances. 
 

(g) Disposition of the consent agenda, which may include, but is 
not limited to, the following items, unless pulled for 
discussion: 

 
(1) Disposition of the minutes of the previous 

regular and/or special meeting. 
 

(2) The Director's financial report. 
 

(3) Routine resolutions required for the proper 
conduct of business by other agencies, e.g., 
resolutions on bank signature cards, resolutions 
on insurance purchases, annual resolutions on 
medical benefits. 

 
(4) Discussion Items 

 
a. Committee reports. 

 
b. Adjournment. 

(h) Non-Agenda Items, Which may include: 
(1) A continued item from a properly posted agenda 

at a meeting held five days or less before the date 
action is taken on the item. Upon a vote of two-
thirds vote of the Board, or if less than two-
thirds of the members are present, a unanimous 
vote; or 

(2) That the need to take action arose after the 
agenda was posted; 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 10 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

(i) Upon a determination of a majority that an emergency 
exists.10 

(j) ??The public may comment on any item of business before 
the Board votes. 

 
7) Voting 
 

(a) The presiding officer of a meeting may vote on any measure 
and may offer or second any motions, resolutions, or 
amendments.  The presiding officer need not announce his 
or her vote unless determinative of the outcome. 

 
(b) A member of the Board should abstain from voting on any 

measure which may present a conflict of interest.  Such 
abstention shall not affect the quorum. 

 
(c) Unless otherwise noted in these bylaws or by Board 

resolution requiring a super-majority with regard to a 
specific item, an affirmative vote of five members is 
required to take action, except for actions related to 
obtaining a quorum or adjourning a meeting. 

 
(d) The Secretary shall record the count for any vote containing 

both yeas and nays.11 
 
VII. Director of Libraries and Staff 

 
A) The Director of Libraries12 

 
1) The Director of Libraries ("Director") is the chief administrative 

officer of the San Diego County Public Law Library, serving at the 
discretion of the Board and with compensation determined by the 
Board.   

2) The Board shall establish rules and approve the salary and and 
compensation for the Director annually. 

 
B) Other Staff 

 
1) The Director shall appoint and specify the duties of other employees 

and shall be held responsible for the proper direction and supervision 
of the staff, and delegation of duties to it. 

                                                        
10 California Government Code §54954.2(b) 
11 Cal. Bus. & Prof. § 6307. 
12 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6345. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 11 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

 
2) In accordance with general policy approved by the Board, the Director 

shall determine staff compensation, evaluations, and promotions, 
subject to budget approved by the board.  

 
C) Duties of the Director and the Staff 

 
1) The Director and the staff shall be responsible for the care and 

maintenance of the Library's property, for an adequate and proper 
selection of books in keeping with the stated policy of the Board, for 
the efficiency of library service to the public and for its financial 
operation within the limitations of the budgeted appropriation. 
 

2) All duties carried out by staff shall conform to the policies established 
by the Board, including the Mission Statement. 

 
VIII. Financial Rules13 

 
A) The fiscal year shall be July 1 to June 30. 

 
B) The annual budget for the San Diego County Public Law Library shall be 

approved by the Board prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.  The Board 
may alter the budget during the year during a noticed meeting and subject to 
approval by a properly constituted quorum of the Board. 

 
C) The Director and staff of the Law Library shall endeavor to stay within the 

budget established by the Board.  The Director shall report all instances 
when expenses go beyond the amount budgeted to the Board. 

 
1) The Director shall have authority to increase a budget line in a new 

fiscal year to allow one-time purchases that were budgeted and 
supposed to occur in the previous fiscal year, provided that those 
purchases were included in estimates of year-end figures when 
budgeting for the new year.  Such budget increases and purchases 
shall be reported routinely as "year-end rollover" purchases in the 
Director's regularly scheduled financial report. 
 

D) The County Auditor shall be advised that it is the desire of the Board of the 
Law Library that the Auditor disregard instances of the Law Library's 
expenditures exceeding its budget figures (called "appropriations" by the 
Auditor), other than notifying the Law Library in the routine manner.  No 

                                                        
13 Amended March 25, 1992, July 29, 1992, November 23, 1994, and September 25, 1996.  Amended March 24, 2004, to 
reflect changed procedures created when the Library=s accounts were brought in-house and the Library began to produce 
its own checks. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 12 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

action need be taken by the County Auditor in such instances.14  (Board 
resolution, June 10, 1976.)15 
 

E) The Director is authorized to make purchases of any amount within a budget 
line previously approved by the Board. 

 
F) The following people are authorized to act as check and warrant request 

signers: 
 

1) The Director. 
 

2) The President. 
 

3) The Treasurer. 
 

4) Other Board member(s) authorized by Board resolution. 
 

G) The following dispositions of funds shall require two signatures: 
 
1) Approval of wire transfers made to the County Auditor to be drawn 

from the Law Library Trust Fund. 
 
2) All checks over $5,000. 

 
3) Payroll checks made in addition to those processed by the Library’s 

payroll service.16 
 

4) Checks from accounts established from income from sources other 
than civil court filing fees, including the Mastercard/Visa account. 

 
H) Any check written to a library staff member who can sign checks must be 

signed by at least one trustee. 
 
I) The following dispositions of funds shall require one signature.  In no event 

shall such a disposition be made to the signer or to any party in which the 
signer has a property interest. 

 
1) Checks under $5,000, made from the Library’s regular accounts.  A 

summary of all such checks must be countersigned by the Treasurer 
                                                        
14 Cal. Bus. and Prof. Code § 6325. 
15 Upon the change to bring the Library’s accounts in-house in March 2004, the County Auditor would notify the Law 
Library only when the total budgeted amount of expenditures for the year was exceeded. 
16 In an emergency situation, such as a lost or stolen payroll check, an emergency check may be written from the revolving 
fund, with subsequent approval of the Board’s Treasurer. 



 

 
San Diego Law Library P a g e  | 13 
Board of Trustees Bylaws 

or other trustee before the checks are disbursed. 
 

2) Revolving fund checks, of not more than $50,000 for expenditures not 
exceeding $10,000 each.17 

 
J) On a regular basis, preferably once a month, the Treasurer shall examine 

reports and logs and the Library’s check register submitted by the Secretary 
and the Library's Financial Administrator so as to track all checks and 
requests made against Library funds. 
 

K) Financial rules for affiliated organizations, including the Law Library Justice 
Foundation, shall be handled within the bylaws of those respective 
organizations. 

 

                                                        
17 Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 6326  (Amended 1994). 



 
Item 8: 

Branch Update 
 

  



EAST COUNTY BRANCH REPORT 
PUBLIC LIBRARY PARTNERSHIP MEETING NOTES 

August 20, 2015 
 

Attendees: John Adkins, SDLL Director of Libraries; Cheryl Weeks-Frey, SDLL Outreach 
Officer; Hildie V. Kraus, San Diego County Library, El Cajon Branch Manager 

 

• The San Diego Law Library (SDLL) is interested in outreach and ‘satellite’ facilities, 
in order to go to where their patrons are; the El Cajon branch of the San Diego 
County Library (SDCL) is a good venue for this pilot, due to its high visitor count, 
and community needs. 

• Los Angeles County, Pasadena  and Riverside library systems have partnerships 
with law libraries in place, and they are successful. 

• This project has a possible start date of January 2016. 

• I am not sure if this requires a Memorandum of Understanding between SDCL and 
SDLL. 

• Here are the proposed aspects of the partnership: 

o The SDLL would staff a drop-in program at the El Cajon Library similar to our 
Veterans’ Drop-in program.  This would occur in the conference room on the 
1st and 3rd Mondays of the month, from 9:30 – 1:00 pm.  I have booked the 
conference room, starting January 2016 – it’s better to schedule it 
tentatively and change/cancel if necessary. 

o The SDLL would donate part of their collection, to be added to the El Cajon 
reference collection.  The SDLL will decide which materials would 
comprise this ‘satellite collection’ and advise SDCL of its approximate 
size and number. 

o The SDLL would offer monthly presentations by attorneys about topics 
relevant to the community, such as landlord-tenant issues, bankruptcy, and 
credit problems. 

o The SDLL would hold free legal clinics at the El Cajon Library that would 
provide individual consultations by appointment. 

o SDCL might agree to offer legal databases (at no cost to the library) for which 
the SDLL holds licenses. These would be available to SDCL cardholders. 

• I will meet with Deputy Director Susan Moore to discuss the partnership. 



 
Item 9: 

Secretary’s Report 
 



Secretary’s Report:  August 2015 

 

OOuuttrreeaacchh  AAccttiivviittiieess  
 

CCllaasssseess  
Classes regularly offered  at the library - usually by the Reference Librarians  or a Database Representative.  

Date Branch MCLE Title/Description 

8/27/15 Main Y Lexis Advance by Dana Corcoran, Lexis Rep 

LLeeccttuurreess 
Programs on special topics (frequently presented by outside speakers).  These include things such as Beach 
Law and Us Housing Crisis.  
Date Branch MCLE Title/Description 

8/6/15 Main Y Dodd-Frank and the New Federal Mortgage Rules by 
Gary Laturno, Esq. 

8/20/15 Main Y Beach Law by panel of speakers 

LLeeggaall  CClliinniiccss  
Free legal consultations organized by staff. 

Date Branch Title/Description 

8/6, 8/13, 8/20, 8/27 SB Consumer Law Clinic in partnership with LASSD 

8/5, 8/12, 8/19 Main Family Law Clinic  in partnership with SDVLP 

8/4, 8/11, 8/18, 8/25 NC Consumer Law Clinic in partnership with LASSD 

8/18/15 Main Civil Appellate Self-Help Workshop in partnership with California 
Court of Appeal, Legal Aid,  and SDCBA 

8/26/15 Main Tax Clinic in partnership with Legal Aid 



Page 1 of 3

Branch/Stage Description of Problem Follow Up/Comments

Main In Process

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: Humidity in the Law Library server room is 25%-
30% higher than it should be. This has been an ongoing issue since the renovation.  Per Dale on 8/24/15, 
submit new request to have someone check the humidity levels and explore further options, County MMIP 
list.

8/31/2015-Cooling issues during the 
recent high temperatures have proven 
this to be a continuing problem. Steph 
Schweter and DGS were on-site most of 
the weekend dealing with high temps 
and humidity in the building. DGS has 
been able to stabilize the temps again 
but the long-term problem is not 
solved.

Main In Process

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: Humidity in the Law Library building is 
consistently higher than it should be (recommended 30% in libraries). This has been an ongoing issue at 
least since the renovation.  Per Dale on 8/24/15, submit new request to have someone check the humidity 
levels and explore further options, County MMIP list.

8/31/2015-Cooling issues during the 
recent high temperatures have proven 
this to be a continuing problem. Steph 
Schweter and DGS were on-site most of 
the weekend dealing with high temps 
and humidity in the building. DGS has 
been able to stabilize the temps again 
but the long-term problem is not 
solved.

Main In Process

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: There are 8 recessed canister lights along the 
north hall on the 3rd floor (between training rooms & IT).  There have been complaints from the Director 
and staff that the lights are too dim, the hallway too dark.  Please look into brighter lumens/fixtures for 
this area. CWC

TRIRIGA MAINTENANCE LOG Tasks



Page 2 of 3

Main In Process

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: For quite some time now (see requests 3752668 
(May 2013), 3758593 (June 2013), & 3765765 (August 2013) we've had a problem with rattling doors, 
cabinets, etc.  This is a continuing issue and it seems to be related to how hard the climate control 
equipment is having to run. Please explore solutions; i.e. weather-stripping, equipment foundation, 
possibly MMIP, etc. CWC

8/31/2015-Cooling issues during the 
recent high temperatures have proven 
this to be a continuing problem. Steph 
Schweter and DGS were on-site most of 
the weekend dealing with high temps 
and humidity in the building. DGS has 
been able to stabilize the temps again 
but the long-term problem is not 
solved.

Main In Process

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: This time last year David Vaughan (SD County 
Project Manager) contracted, per our request, to have a sound barrier door installed leading from/to the 
5th floor elevator lobby.  The door by itself has not proven to be sufficient to suppress noise into the 5th 
floor.  One option that was left open was to revisit further noise suppression utilizing a sound barrier 
blanket inside the door into the mechanical room.  Please explore noise blanket or some other noise 
suppression possibilities, MMIP. CWC

Main In Process

8/26/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: Emergency - Referencing WT4007318/4007319 
dated 8/25/15, DGS has been notified. We have water dripping on our IT server racks. Abel came over and 
installed a temporary fix.  He is heading back to the office see if there are any companies where a larger 
dehumidifying unit can be rented. Can we submit an emergency funding request for humidity control for 
our server room? I think this qualifies. Abel noted that one of the grill plates has a rust mark. I noted that 
another ceiling tile has two new, significant water stains on it.

8/31/2015-Cooling issues during the 
recent high temperatures have proven 
this to be a continuing problem. Steph 
Schweter and DGS were on-site most of 
the weekend dealing with high temps 
and humidity in the building. DGS has 
been able to stabilize the temps again 
but the long-term problem is not 
solved.

Main In Process
8/26/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: 1st floor receiving room 109, side board on the 
left back counter next to sink has come unglued from the wall. CWC

9/2/2015-The trim/side board has 
become warped, Abel will glue and 
screw the board back in place.

Main Complete

7/30/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: I've received reports that a couple of the toilet 
seats in the 1st floor ladies room are loose again creating a potential hazard for disabled patrons. Can we 
check all the toilet seats (men's & ladies) and tighten any that are loose? CWC 8/5/2015-complete



Page 3 of 3

Main Complete
8/4/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: There are two of the red beluga lights out, one 
behind the front desk and the other just above the entry to the 1st floor copier room. 8/5/2015-complete

Main Complete

8/4/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: I've just had report from the Director that there 
seems to be something going on with the drinking fountains on the 1st and 3rd floors.  "There are 
problems with the fountains --- 3rd floor upper one has a weird noise.  – 1st floor the water pressure…drip 
drip drip." CWC 8/6/2015-complete

Main Complete

8/7/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: When Chris C. came in at 6:55am the main 
building alarm was disarmed and the north emergency exit alarm was going off steady. Reported to 
Enrique, Abel came over immediately and turned off the exit alarm. The emergency exit door alarm is now 
chirping indicating low battery. Please replace the battery. We will look at the building security footage.

8/7/2015-complete 9/2/2015-was 
reported that the door alarmed again 
yesterday at 6:20. New Tririga request 
submitted to have the door/alarm 
contacts checked for malfunction.

Main Complete
8/17/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: The bulb is out in the light fixture on the landing 
between the 2nd and 3rd floors in the North stairwell. 8/18/2015-complete

Main Complete

8/25/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: Several of the security cameras are only show 
black & white images. Cameras: 1, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, & 14. Some of the cameras may be slightly out of focus, 
too. Please coordinate the repair day & time with Stephanie @ C: 619-847-4894 8/26/2015-complete

Main Complete
8/26/2015-MAIN LAW LIBRARY: 1105 FRONT ST., 92101: There are two of the recessed canister lights out 
in the 3rd floor ladies restroom.  One is the emergency light fixture. CWC 9/1/2015-complete

NC Complete

8/4/2015-Vista (North County) Law Library: 325 S. Melrose Dr., Suite 300: 92081: There is a door alarm 
chirping & disturbing patrons/staff.  Please repair/replace batteries ASAP.  On-site contact Deb Morse 940-
4386. 8/5/2015-complete



Secretary’s Report:  August 2015 

Patron Compliments & Concerns 

Branch: Patron Comments:    “Today the Library Helped Me…” 

Main Today the Library helped me… I am a solo practitioner who serves many low-income 
clients. Given my client population, I rely a great deal on the law library for legal 
research, printing and copying capabilities. It would be much more difficult to do my 
job without the help of the law library. For these reasons, I ask that you continue to 
support the law library and its services. ~ Alara Chilton 
 

Date: 
8/6/15 

Branch: Patron Comments: 
Main From a long-time patron (pro per) working on her case – received news from her HOA 

president stating that her building would be fixed – “Finally I have the confirmation 
that I did file a really great case, and my allegations have been confirmed. Thank you 
again for all your help.” ~ Rae Ellen 
 

Date: 
8/7/15 

  Branch: Patron Comments:        

Main Gina at the front desk had helped me print a motion and make copies. She was so 
courteous and helpful to me. I walked in with not an idea of what to do, walked out 
armed with the appropriate number of motions and an idea of what to do next. 
Absolutely what a great person. ~ Matthew Phillips 
 

Date: 
8/19/15 

Branch: Patron Comments:  
Main I began researching in the law library for my pro per representation, having absolutely 

no experience in any law library, with the task of a breach of contract, fraud, violation 
of building code, negligence lawsuit which required documents to be properly filed 
and prepared for Superior Court. I could not have achieved my goals without the 
outstanding help and support of the law library staff who were absolutely essential to 
my success. Kelly, Victor, Gina, and Isabel answered all my questions, and took me to 
the right section of reference books and showed me how to look up previous cases in 
the “stacks” are of the library. I was helped by all the staff when ever I had a problem 
with the computers, as I typed ALL of my legal papers here in the library, as I have had 
no computer in my home for almost 5 years. Everybody was so kind, patient, and 
ALWAYS cheerful and friendly, so I looked forward to doing all my research for my 
case here. (I am thankful that the lighting has been improved.) I told my son and tell 
my friends that anyone can represent themselves in Pro Per if they visit the 
downtown law library and work with the staff! The judge in my case told me that I 
wrote “legally sophisticated, complex, legal papers” so I was successful in meeting my 
goals for my case. Many thanks to all of you! Sincerely ~ Rae Ellen Simmons Adalto 
 

Date: 
8/21/15 

Branch: Patron Comments:   
Main The LA train station no longer allows the general public to sit in the seating area of the 

station. Only those with a ticked for transportation within 2 hours may sit there. The Date: 



8/25/15 area is now cordoned off with a light rope. This made me think a similar approach 
would be good for attorneys using the law library who have to content, at times, with 
swarms of homeless people, vagrants, runaways, addicts and the mentally ill, who, 
let’s face it, are using the library as a day-care center, replete with ac/heating, 
computers, charging stations, bathrooms & nice seating, with utter disregard for the 
needs of attorneys for quiet, undisturbed, professional, legal research. How about 
reserve the back ¾ of the big room for attorneys only, or library members only, as 
well as the stacks. There is going to be a tipping point where attorneys will no longer 
use this library because of the filthy, chaotic, noisy, predominance by the homeless. 
The library is not a social service agency! ~ Ms. Green 
 

Branch: Patron Comments:  “Today the Library Helped Me…” 
Main Today the Library Helped Me…  Do the research I need. “They” at the information 

desk, help me with valuable information to the questions I had. Thanks a million for 
being here, Cheryl & Kelly at the information desk are very knowledgeable. ~ Eliadora 
Foster 
 

Date: 
8/27/15 

Branch: Patron Comments:   
Main Today Kathleen helped me. She was a nice, pleasant person. ~ Debbie 
Date: 
9/2/15 

 



Secretary’s Report: August 2015 

Patron Compliments & Concerns 

Branch: Patron Comments: 

North County 
 

Hi, Just wanted everyone to know how friendly and knowledgeable Debra is in helping 
visitors to the Law Library. Thanks, Debra!!   
 
Ron Huber PO Box 500333 858 514 6187 

Date: 
8/14/15 

 



Secretaries Report:  

Patron Incident Reports 
Branch: Brief Description of Incident: 
Main Patron, Martin Wright, entered the library 8/24/15 and immediately went to the 

magazine rack, took several publications, rolled them up, and walked toward the 
1st floor reading room. Staff asked security staff to let patron know that the 
materials were not free or handouts and that they could not be taken out of the 
library.   
When the security staff approached Mr. Wright, Mr. Wright reacted with hostile 
words and violent arm movements which disrupted all the patrons in the reading 
room. Security staff was able to calm Mr. Wright down. 15 minutes later, Mr. 
Wright again began to use hostile swear words and react violently toward security 
staff. He then attempted to leave the library at a fast walk. He set off the alarm 
because he still had the library material with him.  Security staff approached Mr. 
Wright and repeated that the library materials were not free.  Mr. Wright 
returned the items to the staff at the iDesk.   
Several patrons left because of Mr. Wright’s disruptive behavior. 
 
On 8/25/15, Mr. Wright attempted to enter the library as security staff was 
opening the building and Mr. Wright yelled “Stay the fuck away from me.” 
Security staff let Mr. Wright know that he was not allowed in the library that day 
for violating Rule 1 of the Library Rules of Conduct – harassing and disrupting 
library staff and patrons. Mr. Wright threw plastic bottles and other items at 
security staff.  Library staff on the iDesk called the police. Minutes later, while 
waiting for the police to arrive, a CA Highway Patrol car was pulling past the 
library and Mr. Wright ran through traffic to get their attention. The police arrived 
after the Highway Patrol had been speaking to the security officer and Mr. 
Wright.  The police took Mr. Wright into custody and said for the library to call 
any time Mr. Wright comes in and they will pick him up as a trespasser. 
 
Mr. Wright has been suspended permanently for disruptive behavior and 
committing an assault on a library staff member. The library is considering taking 
out a restraining order against Mr. Wright.                                                   
                                                                                                                                                                                   
Police Incident #P15080044108 –. 
 
Patron Incident 238-240 

Date: 
8/24 – 25/2015 

Police Notified? 

Yes 

Action: 

Police arrived to 
arrest patron after 
he was outside the 
building but still 
harassing staff 

 

 

 

 

 

 



July August September October November December January February March April May June Yearly Total
Share of 
Category

Gate Count (# of people)*
   East 186 94 280 2.20%
   Main 4541 4314 8855 69.52%
   North 1517 1311 2828 22.20%
   South 481 294 775 6.08%

6725 6013 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12738
Circulation (# of items checked out, renewed, & put on hold)
   East (500) 6 4 10 0.54%
   Main (150, 125) 519 570 1089 58.58%
   North (300) 157 111 268 14.42%
   South (400) 5 6 11 0.59%
   Via Web (807) 231 250 481 25.87%

918 941 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1859
Material Used In House (IUSE3)
   East 24 30 54 1.58%
   Main 927 1068 1995 58.27%
   North 656 648 1304 38.08%
   South 52 19 71 2.07%

1659 1765 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3424
Memberships (new & renewed)
   East 0 0 0 0.00%
   Main 25 29 54 85.71%
   North 5 3 8 12.70%
   South 0 1 1 1.59%

30 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63
Patron Inquiries 
   East 69 20 89 1.59%
   Main 1707 1769 3476 62.25%
   North 939 932 1871 33.51%
   South 100 48 148 2.65%

2815 2769 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5584
Referrals 40 42 82
Tours & Classes (# of attendees)
   East 0 0 0 0.00%
   Main 5 5 10 83.33%
   North 2 0 2 16.67%
   South 0 0 0 0.00%

7 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
Lectures & Special Events (# of attendees)
   East 0 0 0 0.00%
   Main 95 94 189 84.00%
   North 6 3 9 4.00%
   South 12 15 27 12.00%

113 112 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 225
* Circ numbers for July revised after a systems check. 

2015-2016 Monthly Activity Report



 
 

Statistics Review – August 2015 
Summary 
El Cajon’s and Chula Vista’s daily patron inquiries stayed historically low – 7 for El Cajon, 10 for 
Chula Vista.  This is just 1 inquiry an hour in El Cajon and 1 every 45 minutes in Chula Vista.    
Vista has continued its strong performance – 7 months in a row around 50 patron inquiries a day.  
Downtown saw 75 daily inquiries.  This is the first year to year increase for Downtown since it started 
using Gimlet.  Last year, the daily average was 72. 
Overall, total inquiries were about much lower than in 2014, but the library was open 20 fewer days this 
August – 70.5 days in 2014 and 50.5 in 2015.    
 

 
 
     
Downtown’s patron inquiries this month were similar to typical totals for 2015 – 75 per day.  The gate 
count dipped slightly from the consistent 190 to 203 of the last 7 months, down to 184. This year’s gate 
counts are similar to FY 2012-13 and earlier years.       
Vista’s patron inquiries were consistent with 49 per day while the gate count dropped from 76 to 69 
daily patrons.   
El Cajon saw its patron inquiries hit a new low with 7 per day – half of last month’s 14 per day. The gate 
count was 31 per day.  El Cajon had 1 patron inquiry per hour they were open.  
Chula Vista is now open just 4 hours per day so I adjust stats to per 8 hours to make it easier to compare 
to other branches and to earlier months.  It averaged 10 inquiries compared to 59 patrons per 8 hours.     
 
 
 
 

1500 

2000 

2500 

3000 

3500 

4000 

Total Patron Inquiries, by month 

Patron Inquiries 



 
Patron Inquiries:  
Chula Vista (10 per day) and El Cajon (7) hit historic lows this August.  Vista had another strong month 
(49 per day). Downtown (75) had its first year-to-year increase since using Gimlet.  Downtown and 
Vista are near their historical averages.    
 

 
 
Gate Count:   
Compared to the average of the last 3 Augusts, Downtown and Chula Vista were even. Vista was 23% 
lower and El Cajon was 50% lower.  Compared to just August 2014, Main was slightly higher and Chula 
Vista was the same, while El Cajon 47%, Vista 18%, were both lower. 

 
 
 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

El Cajon Vista Chula Vista Downtown San Diego 

Daily Patron Inquiries Sep-14 

Oct-14 

Nov-14 

Dec-14 

Jan-15 

Feb-15 

Mar-15 

Apr-15 

May-15 

Jun-15 

Jul-15 

Aug-15 

Downtown 
El Cajon 

Vista 
Chula Vista 

181 

63 
90 

61 

184 

31 

69 
59 

Avg of prev Augusts 

Aug-15 



 
 
Patron Inquiries Details: 
Downtown San Diego answered 1769 in August 2015, 23.5 days.  Per day:  75 
Last year, they answered 1699 in August (72 per day) and averaged 2077 (85 a day) over the last 3 years 
Last month, July 2015, was 1707.  Per day: 73 
Downtown was 4% higher than its August 2014 daily totals. 
 
El Cajon answered 20 in August 2015, 3 days.  Per day: 7   
Last year, they answered 412 in August (22 per day) and averaged 746 (36 a day) over the last 3 years.   
Last month, July 2015, was 69.  Per day:  14     
El Cajon was 68% lower than its August 2014 daily totals.   
 
Vista answered 932 in August 2015, 19 days.  Per day:  49 
Last year, they answered 948 in August (51 per day) and averaged 1119 (53 a day) over last 3 years. 
Last month, July 2015, was 939.  Per day: 47   
Vista was the same as its August 2014 daily totals.   
 
Chula Vista answered 48 in August 2015, 5 days.  Per day:  10 
Last year, they answered 376 in August (36 per day) and averaged 665 (37 a day) over the last 3 years.     
Last month, July 2015, was 100.  Per day: 12 
Chula Vista was 72% lower than its August 2014 daily totals.     
 
Gate Count Details: 
Downtown had 4314 patrons enter its gates.  Per day: 184.  This is about the same as the average of the 
previous three Augusts: 181.  The gate count increased 5% compared to August 2014. 
 
El Cajon July: 186 patrons entered. Per day: 37.  This is about 43% lower than the average of the last 3 
Julys: 65.  The gate count decreased 40% compared to July 2014.  
El Cajon August: 94 patrons entered. Per day: 31. This is about 50% lower than the average of the last 
3 Augusts: 63. The gate count decreased 47% compared to August 2014.   
 
Vista had 1311 patrons enter its gates.  Per day:  69. This is about 23% lower than the average of the last 
3 Augusts:  90.  The gate count decreased 18% compared to August 2014.   
 
Chula Vista had 294 patrons enter its gates.  Per 8 hours: 59.  This is about the same as the average of 
the last 3 Augusts:  61.  The gate count was the same as August 2014. 
 
Days Open 
August 2015 – Downtown San Diego was open 23.5 days, Vista was open 19 days. El Cajon was open 3 
days. Downtown San Diego’s total includes 5 Saturdays when the library is open a half day.  Vista’s 
totals include 4 Fridays when they were open half days.  Chula Vista was open 10 half days, or 5 
equivalent days. El Cajon is open on Wednesdays and Chula Vista is open on Tuesdays and Thursdays.  


	Board Maintenance list 08-2015.pdf
	Sheet1

	FY 2015 - 2016 Monthly Activity Report.pdf
	Sheet1

	SDCPLL Financials June & July 2015.pdf
	Balance Sheet
	Profit & Loss
	0615
	SDCPLL Financials July 2015.pdf
	Balance Sheet
	Profit & Loss
	0715



